UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-22-2011

Ball v. City of Blackfoot Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38530

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a case for damages arising out of a slip and fall accident occurring on the sidewalk in front of the Blackfoot Municipal Pool in Blackfoot, Idaho. The Blackfoot Municipal Pool (hereinafter referred to as "Pool") is owned by the City of Blackfoot. The subject sidewalk is located within the designated parking area for patrons of the Pool. The Plaintiffs assert that the City of Blackfoot was negligent in maintaining the sidewalk by permitting a dangerous accumulation of ice to form and persist creating an unreasonable risk of harm to the patrons of the Pool. Plaintiff JoAn Ball, an elderly patron of the Pool, was severely injured when she slipped and fell on the unattended ice that had accumulated on the sidewalk.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellants JoAn Ball and Fred Ball (hereinafter respectively referred to as "JoAn" and "Fred") reside in the City of Blackfoot and they have five (5) children, thirty-six (36) grandchildren and eighty-two (82) great-grandchildren. (R. 75). JoAn and Fred paid the Defendant approximately \$350.00 for a family pass so they could be regular patrons of the Pool. (R. 138-39). At approximately 6:00 a.m. on the morning of February 25, 2008, JoAn and Fred, drove in their vehicle to the Pool to go swimming. (ADDM R. 92 and 95). When JoAn and Fred arrived, they parked in front of the Pool in the parking area designated for Pool patrons. (R. 6,

APPELLANTS' BRIEF - Page 2

Ô O (Cji Ø į.

I.

55). The designated parking area is identified in front of the Pool by signs stating: "Pool Parking Only" with an arrow. (R. 176). The district court entered a finding of fact that "the Balls parked their vehicle at the designated parking area for the Pool." (R. 181). JoAn and Fred parked next to a pickup truck owned by Beth Golson (hereinafter referred to as "Beth"), a friend and walking partner of JoAn. (ADDM R. 93).

JoAn exited the vehicle and as she was walking around toward the sidewalk she exclaimed "Beth is down". (R. 6, 55; ADDM R. 93). As Fred was walking toward JoAn, Fred observed JoAn slip and fall on the sidewalk in front of the designated parking area for the Pool. (R. 6, 55; ADDM R. 94). When JoAn fell, Fred observed JoAn's feet go up in the air and he heard a crunch or crack as her head hit the sidewalk. (R. 6, 55; ADDM R. 94). Jeanette Merrifield (hereinafter referred to as "Merrifield") was a patron of the Pool on the morning of February 25, 2008, and observed JoAn's slip and fall accident. (R. 59-60). Merrifield observed JoAn walking in a normal and not in a hurried fashion toward Beth and saw JoAn fall with her feet out in front of her two or three feet off the ground. *Id*. It was obvious to Merrifield that JoAn had fallen on an icy surface. *Id*.

Immediately following the accident, Fred knelt down by JoAn on the sidewalk to check on her condition. (R. 55, ADDM R. 94). Fred observed that the section of sidewalk where JoAn and Beth fell had ice accumulation and was very slick. (R. 55, ADDM R. 94-95). Fred saw no sign or evidence that salt or ice melt had been applied on the sidewalk where JoAn slipped and APPELLANTS' BRIEF - Page 3

Ø Ø Ċ C O ٢ Ó Ć L. CAR

fell. (R. 55, ADDM R. 94-95). Fred observed that further down the sidewalk, toward the Pool walkway entrance, ice melt of some kind had been applied on a section of the sidewalk, but <u>not</u> on the sidewalk where the accident took place. (R. 55, ADDM R. 95). Merrifield personally observed the sidewalk where JoAn and Beth had fallen and found the sidewalk to be dark and wet looking with <u>no</u> visible evidence of any ice melt having been applied to that area. (R. 60).

Lorna Van Horn (hereinafter "Van Horn"), the Pool manager for the City of Blackfoot, admits that the sidewalks were slippery with ice when she arrived at the Pool at approximately 3:30 a.m. on February 25, 2008. (R. 34). Van Horn is an employee of the City of Blackfoot who is responsible for sprinkling ice melt on the sidewalks outside of the Pool on slippery mornings. *Id.* Van Horn claims that she applied ice melt to the sidewalk three times before patrons of the Pool arrived. *Id.* Van Horn also claims that she applied ice melt "in the area" where JoAn and Beth both fell, but does not state that she specifically applied ice melt where they fell. *Id.*

Following the accident, Fred observed that the Defendant had piled the accumulative snow from the winter season up on the edge of the sidewalk in front of the Pool. (R. 54-55, ADDM R. 95-96). Van Horn also admits that the City of Blackfoot "plowed the road and sidewalk by pushing the snow up onto the grass." (R. 34). Following the accident, Fred observed that the slope of the landscape and sidewalk in front of the Pool, in conjunction with the piling of snow on the edge of the sidewalk, resulted in an increased amount of melted snow running across the sidewalk during the day and the increased accumulation of ice during the night. (R. 50, 55).

In the weeks leading up to February 25, 2008, Shauna Justesen (hereinafter referred to as "Justesen"), a Pool patron for approximately nine years, observed that snow had been pushed up in mounds onto the grass up to the edge of the sidewalk in front of the Pool, which snow would melt and run over the sidewalk along the street parallel to the Pool where the designated parking for the Pool was located. (R. 52-53). Justesen observed that there was no evidence of ice melt products being applied to the sidewalks where the runoff was occurring in the weeks leading up to February 25, 2008. *Id.* Prior to February 25, 2008, Justesen had a conversation with Van Horn, the Pool manager, informing her of the slick conditions of the sidewalks outside the Pool. *Id.*

Due to the accident in question, JoAn has absolutely no memory from the evening of February 24, 2008, when she went to bed, until March 5, 2008. (R. 79). JoAn has no recollection of the day of the accident, nor any details or specifics relative to her slip and fall at the Pool on February 25, 2008. (R. 58, 79). JoAn is aware that she was severely injured as a result of the accident as she has suffered, *inter alia*, complete loss of smell, partial loss of taste, impaired vision, partial loss of hearing, impaired gross motor skills, reduced ability to communicate effectively, sudden loss of consciousness, depression, lost enjoyment of life, and emotional pain and suffering. (R. 8, 57-58). The district court made a finding of fact that "when JoAn exited her vehicle and walked on the sidewalk, she slipped on the accumulated ice, fell to the ground, and sustained injuries." (R. 181).

C. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

(

 $\langle \$

0 ()

On February 12, 2010, JoAn and Fred filed the Complaint against the City of Blackfoot. The City of Blackfoot filed an answer to the same on March 10, 2010. Following the depositions of JoAn and Fred, the City of Blackfoot filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on August 27, 2010. On September 22, 2010, Plaintiffs filed a response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment along with the Affidavit of Shauna Justesen, Affidavit of Fred Ball, Affidavit of JoAn Ball, and the Affidavit of Jeanette Merrifield. On October 16, 2010, Defendant filed a motion to strike the affidavits filed by the Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs filed a Response to Defendant's Motion to Strike on October 27, 2010, along with the affidavit of Plaintiffs' attorney David K. Penrod. On November 3, 2010, a hearing on the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion to Strike was heard before Judge Darren B. Simpson. On December 13, 2010, the District Court entered an Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. On December 29, 2010, the District Court entered a final order dismissing the Plaintiffs' case. Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal on February 8, 2011.

and the state of the

ISSUES ON APPEAL

И.

1. Did the district court err when it failed to apply the facts of the Plaintiffs' case to the duty owed to an invitee of a proprietary or private business enterprise owned and operated by a municipality?

- 2. Did the district court err when it failed to recognize the Defendant assumed a duty to maintain the sidewalks in a non-negligent matter?
- 3. Did the district court err when it failed to apply the facts of the Plaintiffs' case to the Defendant's general duty to exercise reasonable care to maintain its streets and sidewalks in a reasonably safe condition?
- 4. Did the district court err when it granted Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment when material questions of fact remained?

III.

STANDARD AND SCOPE OF REVIEW

When reviewing the district court's ruling on a summary judgment motion, the Court applies the same standard used by the district court. *Van v. Portneuf Med. Ctr.*, 147 Idaho 552, 212 P.3d 982 (2009). Summary Judgment is appropriate "if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law."

APPELLANTS' BRIEF - Page 7

٢ Ø Ô Ø Ô 6 1 \bigcirc \bigcirc Ô ٢ nih Kal £47 1 ð 2 4 þ

I.R.C.P. 56(c). Disputed facts and reasonable inferences are construed in favor of the non-moving party. *Estate of Becker v. Callahan*, 140 Idaho 522, 96 P.3d 623 (2004). If there is no genuine issue of material fact, only a question of law remains, over which the Court exercises free review. *Watson v. Weick*, 141 Idaho 500, 112 P.3d 788 (2005).

IV.

ARGUMENT

A. <u>The district court erred when it failed to apply the facts of the Plaintiffs' case to the</u> duty owed to an invite of a proprietary or private business enterprise owned and operated by a municipality?

It is firmly established law in Idaho that a municipal corporation is liable for its negligence and for the negligence of its employees or servants when the municipality engages in a proprietary or business function. See *Lively v. City of Blackfoot*, 91 Idaho 80, 82, 416 P.2d 27, 29 (1966)(*citing Eaton v. City of Weiser*, 12 Idaho 544, 86 P. 541: *Strickfaden v. Green Creek Highway Dist.*, 42 Idaho 738, 248 P. 456; *Henderson v. Twin Falls County*, 56 Idaho 124, 50 P.2d 597; *City of Nampa v. Kibler*, 62 Idaho 511, 113 P.2d 411; *Splinter v. City of Nampa*, 70 Idaho 287, 215 P.2d 999; *Hooton v. City of Burley*, 70 Idaho 369, 219 P.2d 651; *Lundahl v. City of Idaho Falls*, 78 Idaho 338, 303 P.2d 667; *Ford v. City of Caldwell*, 79 Idaho 499, 321 P.2d 589; and, *Gilbert v. Village of Bancroft*, 80 Idaho 186, 327 P.2d 378). Municipal corporations, out of necessity, are under the same obligations and liabilities and owe the same duty as a private owner when engaged in a proprietary function. *Hansen v. City of Pocatello*, 145 Idaho 700, 703, 184

P.3d 206, 209 (2008); *Splinter*, 70 Idaho at 292; *Hooton*. 70 Idaho at 377; *Eaton*, 12 Idaho at 553; and, *Gilbert*, 80 Idaho at 190. An owner of a business owes a duty of ordinary care under all the circumstances toward invitees who come upon the premises. *IDJI* 3.09; *Harrison v. Taylor*, 115 Idaho 588, 768 P.2d 1321 (1989). This duty extends to all portions of the premises to which an invitee may reasonably be expected to go. *IDJI* 3.09. There is a common law duty placed upon owners to maintain its leased premises in a reasonably safe condition for its invitees, or to warn of hidden or concealed dangers. See *Holzheimer v. Johannesen*, 125 Idaho 397, 871 P.2d 814 (1994); and, *Johnson v. K-Mart Corp.*, 126 Idaho 316, 882 P.2d 971 (Idaho App. 1994). "An invitee is one who enters upon the premises of another for a purpose connected with the business conducted on the land, or where it can reasonably be said that the visit may confer a business, commercial, monetary or other tangible benefit to the landowner." *Holzheimer* at 400.

In the present case, there is no question that the Defendant, a municipal corporation, owns and operates the Blackfoot Municipal Pool. The Pool is a proprietary enterprise and cannot be considered a government function. The Defendant has no governmental, mandatory duty to operate a public pool.

JoAn and Fred paid the Defendant for a yearly pass so that they could regularly use the Pool facilities. As a municipal corporation engaged in a proprietary enterprise, the Defendant owed JoAn and Fred, business invitees, a duty of ordinary care to keep the Pool premises, and specifically the sidewalk running along the <u>entire</u> length of the designated parking area, in a APPELLANTS' BRIEF - Page 9 reasonably safe condition. The Defendant owed JoAn and Fred a duty to warn of hidden or concealed dangers on the premises.

JoAn and Fred have more than adequately alleged that the Defendant breached its duty of care and that they have suffered injuries and damages as a direct result of the breach. The Defendant was aware of the unsafe condition of the subject sidewalks on February 25, 2008. The Defendant's Pool manager, Van Horn, was admittedly aware of the slippery condition of the sidewalks that existed on the morning of February 25, 2008. The unsafe condition of the sidewalks was in part due to the Defendant's piling of shoveled snow up to the edge of the sidewalk permitting it to melt, run across the sidewalk and ultimately freeze, thus, creating an unnatural and unsafe accumulation of ice. Regardless of the actual cause of the ice accumulation on the sidewalk, the Defendant knew the sidewalks were in an unsafe condition and therefore had a duty of ordinary care to the patrons of the Pool as invitees to rectify the dangerous condition. The Defendant failed to exercise ordinary care to protect against an identified and dangerous condition.

Fred and JoAn were going to the Pool, a proprietary enterprise, to exercise. The Defendant had a duty to make sure that the walkways were in reasonably safe condition along the entire sidewalk in the designated parking area. Van Horn claims to have placed ice melt on the sidewalks three times prior to Fred and JoAn's arrival at the Pool on the day in question. Further she claims that she had put ice melt in the "area" where the two elderly women slipped and fell on

ice, both sustaining substantial injuries. Fred has stated that he observed <u>no</u> evidence of ice melt having been applied to the area where JoAn fell. Merrifield, a witness to the accident, personally observed that the area where the accident happened showed <u>no</u> visible evidence of any ice melt having been applied. Merrifield did observe some ice melt along the walkway from the exterior door of the Pool to the street, but <u>none</u> on the sidewalk where JoAn fell. Justesen, a long time Pool patron, was aware of the unsafe condition of the subject sidewalks and she had warned Van Horn of the same prior to the accident.

Van Horn admits in her affidavit that snow from the streets and sidewalks were piled up on the grass. Fred and Justesen both observed that the city piled mounds of snow just off the sidewalk on the grass or landscaping, allowing the same to melt during the day and run across the sidewalk and ultimately freeze again at night. Thus, the accumulation of ice on the sidewalk where JoAn fell was partially due to Defendant's negligent snow removal and/or maintenance of the sidewalk. Justesen also observed that the city would pile snow up against the curb along the sidewalk. (R. 53). That act alone may have created a situation where the melted snow could not properly drain off of the sidewalk. Even if the ice accumulation was the product of natural causes, however, the Defendant was aware of the unsafe conditions and did not take adequate measures to ensure the safety of the patrons coming to the Pool.

The district court erroneously concluded that the facts of the present case are "almost identical" to the facts in *Pearson v. Boise City*, 80 Idaho 494, 333 P.2d 998 (Idaho 1959), which APPELLANTS' BRIEF - Page 11

case the Idaho Supreme Court dismissed. The sidewalk in *Pearson* was situated at the corner of an intersection within the corporate limits of Boise. Unlike in the present case, the sidewalk in *Pearson* was not being used in conjunction with a proprietary business owned and operated by a municipality. The street corner was one of countless many street corners and/or streets located in the large city of Boise. It is not too burdensome for a city to monitor and maintain the limited number of sidewalks used by invitees of a proprietary enterprise owned by the city. Unlike the present case, there are no facts in *Pearson* that suggest the city was admittedly aware of the dangerous condition of the sidewalk prior to the slip and fall. Unlike the present case, there are no facts in *Pearson* that the city recognized and/or assumed a duty and then acted in a negligent manner in performance of that duty. Upon proper examination, the facts of the present case are readily distinguishable and significantly different from the facts set forth in *Pearson*.

The district court erroneously concluded that the *Splinter* case was of no legal import in the present matter. *Splinter* specifically states that a city is under the same obligations and liabilities and owes the same duty to everyone as does a private owner when exercising proprietary as distinguished from governmental powers. *See Splinter*, 70 Idaho at 292. The Defendant owns and operates the Pool, without question a proprietary business. The legal duty set forth in *Splinter* cannot be dismissed simply because the case involves storage tanks rather than icy sidewalks. The legal duty discussed in *Splinter*, as well as the numerous other cited cases herein, are applicable to any proprietary business enterprise owned by a city. No matter

what private enterprise the city is engaged in, the city will owe the same duty of care to invitees as any other private business of that type.

Based on the case law set forth herein, the district court erred in dismissing the Plaintiff's case. The Defendant owed Fred and JoAn a duty of care as invitees and that duty was breached. They were patrons who had paid the city for a yearly pass to the Pool. The Defendant knew that Fred and JoAn would be using the exterior sidewalks during inclement weather. The Defendant was admittedly aware of a dangerous condition on the sidewalk. The Defendant failed to remedy the hazardous condition and/or warn the Plaintiffs of the same. JoAn was severely injured as a result of the Defendant's negligence and she will never be the same again.

B. <u>The district court erred when it failed to recognize the Defendant assumed a duty to</u> maintain the sidewalks in a non-negligent matter.

Idaho law recognizes that one who voluntarily undertakes to perform an act, a duty arises to perform the act in a non-negligent manner. See *Udy v. Custer County*, 136 Idaho 386, 34 P.3d 1069 (2001).

On February 25, 2008, the Defendant breached an assumed duty to patrons by negligently applying ice melt to only a portion of the icy sidewalk located within the designated parking area on the premises. Van Horn, the Pool manager, admits that the sidewalks were slippery with ice when she arrived at the Pool on February 25, 2008. (R. 34). Van Horn admits that she is an employee of the Defendant who is responsible for sprinkling ice melt on the sidewalks outside the APPELLANTS' BRIEF - Page 13

Pool on slippery mornings. *Id.* Van Horn claims that she applied ice melt to the slippery sidewalk three times before patrons arrived at the Pool. *Id.* Fred and Merrifield both personally observed that <u>no</u> ice melt had been applied to the sidewalk where JoAn and Beth slipped and fell. If Van Horn had applied three applications of ice melt in a two and a half hour period of time, as she claims, there would have been visual evidence of the same. The failure to apply a proper application of ice melt on the entire length of the admittedly unsafe sidewalk was a breach of the Defendant's duty to keep the walkways in a reasonably safe condition. At the very least, it was a breach of an assumed duty to apply ice melt in a non-negligent manner.

Even if Van Horn had applied ice melt along the entire sidewalk, and the Plaintiffs contend that she did not, there would still be a jury question as to whether she had applied an adequate portion ice melt. Nowhere in the record does it state exactly where and how much ice melt Van Horn applied to the slippery sidewalks. If Van Horn applied an inadequate portion of ice melt given the conditions of the sidewalk, or if she failed to spread ice melt along the entire sidewalk, there would still be a jury question as to whether the Defendant was negligent.

The district court erred in failing to address the Plaintiffs' argument that the Defendant had assumed a duty to remedy a dangerous condition in a non-negligent manner. There is a factual dispute as to whether the Defendant applied an appropriate amount of ice melt, if any, along the entire sidewalk falling within the designated parking area for Pool patrons. The

Ĉ

٢

ł.

皆然らり

Plaintiffs should be permitted their day in court to present factual evidence to a jury regarding the negligence of the Defendant.

C. <u>The district court erred when it failed to apply the facts of the Plaintiffs' case to the</u> <u>Defendant's general duty to exercise reasonable care to maintain its streets and sidewalks in</u> a reasonably safe condition, as set forth in *Pearson*.

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