UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-24-2011

Ball v. City of Blackfoot Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38530

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT APPLIED THE CORRECT STANDARD OF CARE APPLICABLE TO A MUNICIPALITY AS ARTICULATED IN PEARSON V. BOISE CITY.

"Municipalities are not insurers of the safety of those who use the sidewalks." See, Pearson

v. Boise City, 80 Idaho 494, 497, 333 P.2d 998, 1000 (1959), citing Wilson v. City of Idaho Falls, 17 Idaho 425, 105 P.1057 (1909)("mere slipperiness of a sidewalk, occasioned by smooth or level ice or snow, is insufficient to charge the municipality with liability for injury resulting therefrom where the snow or ice does not constitute an obstruction."). The standard which governs the care of sidewalks by a municipality was clearly defined to be a duty of "keeping streets in reasonably safe condition for public travel and are liable for damages for injuries sustained only in consequence of their negligent discharge of such duty." *Pearson*, 80 Idaho at 496. The rationale for imposing such a duty is sound:

In certain seasons and localities, as is well known, it would be burdensome, if not impracticable, to impose the duty on the municipality to keep its sidewalks clear of snow and ice at all times. Pedestrians must assume the risks attending a general slippery condition of sidewalks produced by natural causes and which remain despite the efforts of reasonable care and diligence.

Id. (citing McQuillin, Municipal Corporations, 3rd Ed., Vol. 19 § 54.84, p. 316) (emphasis added). Snow and ice is synonymous with Eastern Idaho winters and this Court has clearly established that a "municipality is bound to exercise <u>only ordinary and reasonable care</u> to maintain its streets and sidewalks in a reasonably safe condition." *Id.* (citing *Miller v. Village of Mullan*, 17 Idaho 28, 104 P. 660 (1909)) (emphasis added). This is the clearly articulated standard that applies to the City's maintenance of its sidewalks.

It is, indeed, uncommon to locate a decided case from the same jurisdiction that is so factually analogous to the case currently being appealed. However, *Pearson v. Boise City, supra*, is so closely aligned with the present case factually that the district court had little option but to follow the clear precedent previously established by this Court.

In Pearson, an elderly woman received personal injuries when she slipped and fell on the

city's sidewalk. The sidewalk had sunk approximately one-half inch leaving a depression, which filled with water from melted snow and froze; and that falling snow covered the ice frozen in the depression. This condition had existed for more than three years and was known, or should have been known, to the city.¹ *Pearson*, 80 Idaho at 496. Further, the elderly woman did not allege that the ice obstructed the sidewalk but rather that it made the sidewalk slippery and was, therefore, a dangerous condition which should have been remedied by the city. The district court was unpersuaded by the woman's claims and dismissed her complaint, and this Court affirmed. In coming to its conclusion, this Court declared, following an in-depth discussion of case law from various jurisdictions regarding defects in a sidewalk:

The authorities are overwhelming in their holdings that a defect in a sidewalk of a minor or trivial nature, as shown by respondent's pleadings, is not sufficient to hold a municipality liable in damages for failure to repair the same. The defect in itself not being of sufficient serious import as to render the municipality liable for actionable negligence, the fact that the depression becomes filled with water and freezes with a surface of hard, smooth glazed ice, because of natural weather conditions, likewise does not constitute any defect for which the municipality may be held liable, since in such a case the ice and not any existent defect constitutes the proximate cause of any injury received because of slipping on the ice.

Id. at 503, 333 P.2d at 1003 (emphasis added). Though the allegations in *Pearson* included a claim that there was a minor defect in the street, this Court held that hard, smooth glazed ice resulting from <u>natural weather conditions</u> does not constitute any defect for which the city may be held liable.

¹Appellants unsuccessfully attempt to distinguish *Pearson* on the grounds that the City allegedly knew that the ice was on the sidewalk. However, this Court clearly noted that the condition had persisted for at least three years and that the City knew or should have know of the purported defect. As such, any argument that *Pearson* is inapplicable because the City knew of the ice is consistent with the level of knowledge that the city had in *Pearson*.

This Court also stated that "Pedestrians must assume the risks attending a general slippery condition of sidewalks produced by natural causes and which remain despite the efforts of reasonable care and diligence." *Id.* (citing McQuillin, Municipal Corporations, 3rd Ed., Vol. 19 § 54.84, p. 316). This Court further clarified that "[m]ere slipperiness of a sidewalk, occasioned by smooth or level ice or snow, is insufficient to charge the municipality with liability for injury resulting therefrom where the snow and ice does not constitute an obstruction." *Id.* at 497, 333 P.2d at 999-1000. As such, the requirement of a municipality, in ensuring a reasonably safe condition is to clear the sidewalks of any obstructions only.

It is undisputed that the City of Blackfoot plowed the road and sidewalk in front of the pool by pushing the snow onto the grass. It is uncontroverted that the City removed any snow obstructions, as such, the City has complied with the clear mandate from *Pearson*, namely that snow obstructions be removed. The City then went above the duty imposed by *Pearson* and routinely sprinkled ice melt on the sidewalks outside of the pool on winter mornings. (R.34, Affidavit Lorna Van Horn, \P 6). On the morning of the accident, Ms. Van Horn arrived at the pool at approximately 3:30 a.m. and confirmed that the sidewalk had been plowed and the snow was pushed up onto the grass that morning. (R.34, Affidavit Lorna Van Horn, \P 8). While there may have been some ice, there was no accumulation of snow on the sidewalk. (R.34, Affidavit Lorna Van Horn, \P 8). Ms. Van Horn noticed that the sidewalk was slippery. She sprinkled ice melt on the sidewalk at least three (3) times that morning before patrons arrived, and specifically in the area where Mrs. Ball fell. (R.34, Affidavit Lorna Van Horn, \P 7, 9). Based on the foregoing, it is unquestionable that the City made every effort to keep the sidewalks in a reasonably safe condition.

Appellants argue that the appropriate standard applicable to the City is that of a proprietary

enterprise, and more specifically, that the City maintain the premises in a reasonably safe condition for its invitees, or to warn of hidden or concealed dangers. (Appellants' Brief, p. 9). Appellants argument fails for two reasons, first, the applicable standard of care is articulated in *Pearson*, which is to "exercise <u>only ordinary and reasonable care</u> to maintain its streets and sidewalks in a reasonably safe condition." Second, the standard articulated in *Pearson* is indistinguishable from the standard of care of a proprietary enterprise.

Appellants citc Splinter v. City of Nampa, 70 Idaho 287, 215 P.2d 999 (195), a case decided prior to *Pearson*, as creating the applicable standard of care relative to the City's obligations in maintaining the sidewalks. Curiously, Appellants never suggest what is the applicable standard created by Splinter. Nonetheless, Appellants reliance on Splinter is misplaced as the case is so easily distinguishable when compared to the instant matter. The holding in Splinter was a hotly contested 3-2 decision, where this Court struggled over whether or not the City of Nampa was engaged in a proprietary or governmental function when it allowed an adjacent private landowner to install a butane tank in a city alley for use by the landowner. The adjacent landowner was injured as a result of the proprietary activity, namely an explosion of the butane tank. The court concluded that the granting of a permit by the City for the placement of a tank in a City alley was a proprietary function and overruled the demurrer. In so concluding, this Court recognized an "illogical" and "unjustified anomaly" if it were to allow the City to be free from all liability based on where an injured party was located. The resultant conclusion was that the "degree of care to be exercised must be commensurate with the danger or hazard connected with the activity." This Court recognized that the duty of care was altered by the danger or hazard connected with the activity. With an increase in the danger or hazard of an activity, the degree of care also increase commensurate to the danger. Id. at 294, 215

P.2d at 1002 ("The highest degree of care must be exercised in connection with storing, handling, etc., of highly inflammable [sic] and explosive substances."). Thus, the only duty that can be derived from *Splinter* is that a municipality owes the highest duty when dealing with highly flammable substances. The *Splinter* court did not purport to define the duty of a City to maintain its sidewalks during winter, and no such duty can be created from the case's holding.

Most glaring, however, just as this Court balked at limiting liability based on the location of an individual in *Splinter*, here it would likewise be "illogical" and an "unjustified anomaly" if a different standard for city sidewalks were applied based upon where an individual fell. In other words, it is illogical to suggest that the standard of care for an individual who is walking on the sidewalk to use the pool and falls enjoys a different standard of care than an individual who is walking along the same stretch of sidewalk without intending to use the pool and falls. Such a distinction is both illogical and impractical. It is also illogical to suggest that an individual using a sidewalk, which would be incidental to a proprietary function, would enjoy the same standard of care for an individual actually engaged in the proprietary function. Here, Mrs. Ball was injured not while using the pool, a proprietary function, but rather using a sidewalk leading to the pool. The sidewalk is incidental to the public use of the pool. Unlike *Splinter*, here the injury was not the result of any proprietary activity but rather was incidental to such an activity. Mrs. Balls fall was not associated with the alleged proprietary function of the pool. As such, Appellants' reliance on *Splinter* is misplaced.

Notwithstanding *Splinter*, even if this Court were to decide that a proprietary standard of an invitee were applicable, the appropriate standard of care for a business invitee is indistinguishable from the standard of care articulated in *Pearson*. A land owner "has not only a duty to disclose

dangerous conditions, but also the duty to exercise reasonable affirmative care to keep the premises safe for an invitee." *Keller v. Holiday Inns, Inc.*, 105 Idabo 649, 653, 671 P.2d 1112, 1116 (1983). Under this standard, the City owed a duty to "exercise reasonable affirmative care to keep the premises safe." The standard does not require that a landowner prevent any accident from occurring, rather that reasonable efforts be taken to keep the premises safe. In *Antim v. Fred Meyer Stores, Inc.*, 150 Idaho 774, 251 P.3d 602 (2011), a woman tripped on a mat in an aisle of a store and was injured. The store filed a summary judgment motion, which was granted by the district court, supported by the affidavit testimony of the store manager that he had inspected the aisle twenty-five minutes prior to the fall and that the mat had been lying flat. *Id.* at 606. The store had inspected the area near the fall and there were no noticeable dangers. This Court concluded that the store acted reasonably in ensuring that the aisles were reasonably safe for its patrons and affirmed the lower court. It is undisputed that the City had inspected the area and sprinkled ice melt on the sidewalks to aid in providing a safe ingress and egress into the pool facility. There are no facts in the record to conclude that the City provided anything but reasonably safe sidewalks for Mrs. Ball. As such, the district court's ruling was correct under either standard.

Because the City exercised ordinary and reasonably care in maintaining the sidewalks outside the Bingham County Pool in a reasonably safe condition, and Appellants failed to present any evidence to suggest otherwise, the district court's grant of summary judgment was proper.

B. THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE CITY OF BLACKFOOT NEGLIGENTLY MAINTAINED ITS SIDEWALKS.

From the outset, as this Court has previously held, hard, smooth glazed ice resulting from <u>natural weather conditions</u> does not constitute any defect for which the city may be held liable.

Pearson, 80 Idaho at 503, 333 P.2d at 1003. Furthermore, one of the inherent risks to each individual residing in Eastern Idaho is the certainty of snow and ice on sidewalks. Here, Mrs. Ball was on notice of ice on the sidewalk. Mrs. Ball testified that she had observed ice and snow accumulation on the sidewalks at the Blackfoot Pool. (ADDM R. 37, Deposition JoAn Ball, pg. 37, 11, 18-25; pg. 38 11, 1-25). Mr. Ball likewise supported this observation when he testified about sidewalk conditions in the winter, "in the wintertime you've always got snow and ice." (ADDM R. 7, Deposition John Frederick Ball, pg. 38, 11, 20-25; pg. 39, 11, 1-4). It is undisputed that Appellauts had notice of the icy conditions on the morning Mrs. Ball fell because she witnessed a friend slip on the ice moments before her fall. (ADDM R. 8, Deposition John Frederick Ball, pg. 41, 11, 1-25).

Appellants attempt to create a genuine issue of material facts by suggesting the City was negligent in maintaining the sidewalks through the use of speculative and unfounded statements. Specifically, Appellants torture Ms. Van Horns affidavit to support a conclusion that ice melt was not applied or was improperly applied because there was no visual evidence of the ice melt. Appellants further ignore the unambiguous statements that Ms. Van Horn applied ice melt to the sidewalk and area where Mrs. Ball fell. Appellants contention that Ms. Van Horn was required to apply ice melt in a non-negligent manner fails because it creates a new standard of care and ignores undisputed evidence that Ms. Van Horn applied ice melt on the sidewalks.

The City had a duty to keep the sidewalks outside the Blackfoot Municipal Pool in a reasonably safe condition. The City acted reasonably by ensuring that snow was removed from the parking lot and sidewalks. The City then exceeded its duty by then applying ice melt to the sidewalks on three occassions. Appellants do not challenge that these actions occurred. The law is clear that "[m]ere slipperiness of a sidewalk, occasioned by smooth or level ice or snow, is

insufficient to charge the municipality with liability for injury resulting therefrom where the snow or ice does not constitute an obstruction. Simply put, ice and snow that is level does not constitute an obstruction and the City cannot be liable for injuries that occur when an individual slips on smooth ice or snow. Maintaining a sidewalk free of all snow and ice at all times during the harsh Eastern Idaho winters is virtually impossible, as this Court recognized; "it would be burdensome, if not impracticable, to impose the duty on the municipality to keep its sidewalks clear of snow and ice at all times." *Pearson*, 80 Idaho at 496.

Moreover, Appellants must establish through appropriate affidavit testimony that the City did not exercise reasonable care to maintain its streets and sidewalks in a reasonably safe condition. The only facts in the record on sidewalk maintenance, which were undisputed by appropriate affidavit testimony, is that the City plowed the snow from its streets and sidewalks and that the City spread ice melt on the subject sidewalk on three occasions the morning of the accident. (R. 34). It is important to remember that the standard is whether the City took reasonable actions in maintaining the sidewalks. Appellants failed to present any evidence suggesting that the City acted unreasonably. Rather, Appellants contend that because Mrs. Ball fell, that the City must have acted negligently. Appellants have an obligation in opposing a summary judgment motion to come forward with more than just "mere allegations" that the City breached the established duty of care. *See* Idaho R. Civ. P. 56(e). No supporting evidence can be found in the record.

Appellants do not dispute that the City removed the snow from the streets and sidewalks. Appellants further do not dispute that ice melt was applied on three occasions prior to the accident. Appellants only evidence supporting their claim is the affidavits of Fred Ball, Joan Ball, Jeanette Merrifield and Shauna Justeson, all of which contain inadmissible testimony that was the subject of

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